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Forfeiture and Restitution / Double Jeop-
ardy 
 
Forfeiture and restitution are both manda-
tory, even if the Government is the victim; 
imposing both forfeiture and restitution does 
not violate the Double Jeopardy Clause nor 
constitute double recovery. 
 
Because the district court erred in declining 
to order forfeiture on the ground that it had 
already ordered the defendant to pay resti-
tution, it must now re-sentence the defend-
ant. 
 
United States v. Hernandez, ___ F.3d ___, 
2015 WL 6118332 (11th Cir. Oct. 19, 2015). 
 
Eleventh Circuit * Defendant pled guilty to 
the theft of Government funds pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. § 641 and was ordered to pay 
$117,659 in restitution to the Social Security 
Administration.  The Government also 
asked the district court to impose a criminal 
forfeiture judgment in the same amount, but 
the court declined to do so.  The Govern-
ment appealed. 
 
 On appeal, the panel held that forfei-
ture and restitution are both mandatory and 
that accordingly, “the district court erred in 
denying the Government’s forfeiture mo-
tion.” 
 
 Forfeiture and restitution serve dif-
ferent purposes, the court said.  Therefore, 

there is no right to an offset of one against 
the other.  To the extent the district be-
lieved it was not required to issue a forfei-
ture order because Defendant was already 
ordered to pay restitution, it was incorrect. 
 
 Defendant argued that even if the 
statutes make both restitution and forfeiture 
mandatory, imposing both orders violates 
the Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth 
Amendment, but the panel disagreed.  “Be-
cause restitution and forfeiture serve differ-
ent purposes,” the court said, “imposition of 
both does not implicate double jeopardy.”  
Moreover, because the Social Security Ad-
ministration and the Department of Justice 
are “distinct entities,” ordering forfeiture to 
one and restitution to the other does not 
constitute “double recovery.” 
 
 Accordingly, the panel remanded the 
case to the district court with instructions to 
re-impose Defendant’s sentence so that it 
includes both a forfeiture order and a resti-
tution order.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Nicole Andrejko (M.D. Fla.) 
 
Comment:  [Redacted] 
 
 
Forfeiture and Restitution 
 
Defendant is not entitled to offset his forfei-
ture liability by the amount that he paid to 
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his victim in restitution, even if he did so vol-
untarily before he was indicted. 
 

United States v. Bailey, ___ Fed. Appx. ___, 
2015 WL 6468030 (11th Cir. Oct. 27, 2015). 
 
Eleventh Circuit * Defendant was con-
victed of bank theft in violation of 18 U.S.C. 
§ 2113.  Before being indicted, he paid 
$65,500 in restitution to the victim bank, but 
the Government nevertheless asked the 
court to enter a forfeiture order in the form 
of a money judgment for a similar amount.  
The court did so, and Defendant appealed. 
 
 On appeal Defendant first argued 
that seeking forfeiture after he voluntarily 
paid restitution to the victim was contrary to 
public policy, but the panel did not agree. 
 
 It is well-established in the Eleventh 
Circuit, the court said, that forfeiture and 
restitution serve different purposes and are 
both mandatory.  Thus, the defendant in a 
criminal case is not entitled to an offset 
against a forfeiture order even if he has al-
ready paid restitution to the victim of his of-
fense.  It makes no difference that the pay-
ment was voluntary. 
 
 Defendant also argued that the Gov-
ernment could not forfeit substitute assets to 
satisfy the money judgment because the re-
quirements of Section 853(p) were not satis-
fied.  Specifically, Defendant argued that 
the Government could not show that De-
fendant, by his act or omission, had ren-
dered the proceeds of his offense unavaila-
ble because the Government knew exactly 
where the money was: in the hands of the 
bank to which he paid restitution.  The Gov-
ernment responded that Defendant had long 
since dissipated the theft proceeds, and 
used other money to pay restitution to the 
victim.  But the court found the entire issue 
prematurely raised. 
 

 Whether the Government can forfeit 
substitute assets in this situation, the court 
said, must be litigated in the first instance in 
the district court when and if the Govern-
ment files a motion under Rule 32.2(e) to 
amend the forfeiture order to forfeit such as-
sets.  Because the Government had not yet 
filed any such motion, the issue was not ripe 
for review.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Amanda Wick (N.D. Ala.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
Joint and Several Liability / Excessive 
Fines 
 
Court affirms a forfeiture order holding an 
inside trader jointly and severally liable for 
the proceeds realized by the co-conspira-
tors who acted on her stock tips. 
 
The Eighth Amendment is not violated when 
a person who personally obtained only 
$7,836 in an insider trading scheme is held 
jointly and severally liable to forfeit 
$814,736. 
 
United States v. Jiau, ___ Fed. Appx. ___, 
2015 WL 5559764 (2nd Cir. Sept. 22, 2015). 
Second Circuit * Defendant was convicted 
of securities fraud in an insider trading case 
and was ordered to forfeit $811,536 in pro-
ceeds.  She appealed the forfeiture order. 
 
 First, Defendant argued that be-
cause she personally realized only $7,836 
from the scheme her forfeiture liability 
should be limited that amount.  But the 
court applied the doctrine of joint and sev-
eral liability and held that Defendant was lia-
ble for the full amount realized by everyone 
with whom she acted in concert.  It is not 
necessary, the court said, that an individual 
defendant have had actual control of the 
criminal proceeds to be liable for their forfei-
ture.  It is enough that the proceeds were 
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under the control either of the defendant or 
of her co-conspirators. 
 
 Second, Defendant argued that the 
evidence was insufficient to prove that the 
$811,536 was derived from the insider trad-
ing scheme.  Her co-actors, she said, could 
have acted on other information to realize 
the profits they made on securities trades.  
But the court held that circumstantial evi-
dence, including the timing of the insider’s 
tip and the trades, incriminating phone calls, 
and the co-conspirators’ expressions of 
gratitude to Defendant, were sufficient to 
support the causal connection between De-
fendant’s offense and the amount forfeited. 
  
 Finally, Defendant argued that hold-
ing her jointly and severally liable for the full 
forfeiture violated the Excessive Fines 
Clause of the Eighth Amendment.  The 
court, however, held that holding a relatively 
minor player jointly and severally liable does 
not, by itself, render a forfeiture grossly dis-
proportional to the offense, especially where 
the statutory penalty for the offense in-
cluded 25 years’ incarceration and fines up 
to $5.25 million. 
 
 So the forfeiture order was affirmed 
in all respects.  SDC 
Contact: AUSAs Karl Metzner and Richard 
Cooper (S.D.N.Y.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Proceeds / Gross v. Net 
 
Defendant convicted of fraudulently receiv-
ing Government funds in violation of Section 
666 is entitled to an offset against the forfei-
ture order for the direct costs she incurred in 
actually providing services in return for the 
funds. 
 

But because the defendant could not pro-
duce any evidence of having incurred direct 
costs, she received no offset. 
 
United States v. Whicker, ___ Fed. Appx. 
___, 2015 WL 5845799 (6th Cir. Oct. 8, 
2015). 
 
Sixth Circuit * Defendant was a paid em-
ployee of the City of Martin, Kentucky.  At 
the same time, she was receiving Social Se-
curity disability benefits as the result of a car 
accident.  To prevent Defendant from los-
ing her eligibility for the disability benefits, 
the Mayor of the City (Defendant’s mother 
and co-defendant) arranged to issue De-
fendant’s paychecks to a third party (De-
fendant’s son) who then turned the money 
over to Defendant.  Altogether, by this sub-
terfuge, Defendant received approximately 
$99,000 in payments from the City (financed 
by a federal housing grant) while continuing 
to collect approximately $78,000 in Social 
Security benefits. 
 
 Defendant and her mother were both 
convicted of violating 18 U.S.C. § 666 (mis-
application of Government funds) and § 641 
(stolen Social Security benefits) and were 
ordered to forfeit $177,000, comprising both 
the payments from the City and the Social 
Security benefits, as the proceeds of the 
two offenses.  They appealed the forfeiture 
order. 
 
 The issue on appeal was whether 
the district court should have given Defend-
ants credit for the value of the work that De-
fendant actually did for the City.  The court 
found that under 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(2)(B), 
Defendants were entitled to a reduction in 
the forfeiture amount to reflect Defendant’s 
“direct costs” in providing her services to the 
City, but it held that because Defendant of-
fered no evidence of her costs, the district 
court did not err in declining to grant De-
fendants any offset. 
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 So the full forfeiture of the $177,000 
was affirmed.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Wade Napier (E.D. Ky.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Calculation of the Money Judgment / 
Money Laundering Forfeiture  
 
Finding the testimony of cooperating wit-
nesses vague and unreliable as to the 
quantity of drugs and money transported by 
courier, the court declines to order the for-
feiture of any amount whatsoever. 
 
When drug proceeds are commingled with 
funds in the bank account of a legitimate 
business for the purpose of remitting them 
to a co-defendant in California, both the 
tainted and untainted funds are forfeitable 
as property involved in the money launder-
ing offense. 
 
United States v. Stewart, 2015 WL 6039742 
(D. Neb. Oct. 15, 2015). 
 
D. Neb. * Defendant was the California 
source of marijuana supplied to a co-de-
fendant in Nebraska.  To pay Defendant for 
his product, the co-defendant used various 
means to remit funds from Nebraska to Cali-
fornia, including couriers, wire transfers, and 
the deposit of money into a bank account 
that Defendant and co-defendant shared as 
part of a joint, legitimate business. 
 
 Defendant was convicted by a jury of 
drug trafficking, money laundering, and vio-
lating the Travel Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1952.  
Accordingly, the Government sought a crim-
inal forfeiture order under three separate 
theories: forfeiture of proceeds of the drug 
offense under 21 U.S.C. § 853; all property 
involved in money laundering under 18 
U.S.C. § 982(a)(1); and all proceeds of the 
Travel Act offense under 18 U.S.C. § 

981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c).  The 
court reviewed the facts and calculated the 
amount of the forfeiture under each theory. 
 
 With respect to the drug proceeds 
theory, the Government relied on the testi-
mony of the co-defendant and other cooper-
ating witnesses to estimate the amount of 
money transported by courier from Ne-
braska to California, and on the wire trans-
fer records of the money transferred through 
Western Union and MoneyGram.  It held 
that the testimony of the witnesses was un-
reliable, and accordingly declined to order 
any forfeiture based on the amount of 
money transported by courier.  But it did or-
der the forfeiture of $168,294 that could be 
documented with the wire transfer records. 
 
 For the same reasons, the court lim-
ited the forfeiture under the Travel Act the-
ory to the same amount. 
 
 With respect to the money launder-
ing theory, the Government sought the for-
feiture of $121,011 that Defendant withdrew 
from the business bank account that he and 
the co-defendant shared.  Defendant ob-
jected that the account contained both the 
drug proceeds being laundered and com-
mingled funds from the legitimate business.  
But the court held that commingled funds 
are subject to forfeiture as “property in-
volved” in a money laundering offense and 
ordered the forfeiture of the entire $121,011 
under the money laundering theory. 
 
 The court then held that the forfei-
ture judgments should be concurrent, and 
that accordingly Defendant would be liable 
to forfeit only $168,294.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA David Wear 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Money Laundering / Venue 
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Defendant may be charged with money 
laundering conspiracy in the district where 
the underlying SUA occurred, even if the 
money laundering transaction occurred 
elsewhere, as long as an overt act in fur-
therance of the conspiracy occurred there. 
 
United States v. Lustgarten-Acherman, 
2015 WL 6126810 (D. Mass. Oct. 16, 2015). 
 
D. Mass. * Defendant laundered the pro-
ceeds of a Massachusetts drug trafficking 
offense by conducting certain financial 
transactions in Miami, using Florida bank 
accounts.  The Government obtained an in-
dictment charging Defendant with money 
laundering conspiracy under Sec-
tion1956(h), basing venue in the District of 
Massachusetts on the ground that one or 
more of the overt acts in furtherance of the 
conspiracy occurred there. 
 
 Defendant moved to dismiss the in-
dictment for improper venue, or in the alter-
native, to transfer the case to the Southern 
District of Florida where he had also been 
indicted in another money laundering con-
spiracy case involving overlapping facts. 
 
 The court held that under the money 
laundering venue statute, 18 U.S.C. § 
1956(i)(2), venue was proper in Massachu-
setts because an overt act in furtherance of 
the conspiracy allegedly occurred in that 
district.  But it granted the motion for 
change of venue. 
 
 The court acknowledged the incon-
venience to the Government of having to 
have its agents travel to Miami for the trial.  
But it held that the countervailing considera-
tions – the location of Defendant’s wit-
nesses, the bank accounts, and the finan-
cial transactions alleged as money launder-
ing offenses, all of which occurred in Florida 
– weighed in favor of granting the change-

of-venue motion to the district where the re-
lated criminal case was pending.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Chris Donato 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Money Laundering / Section 1957 - 
$10,000 Requirement 
 
Government relies on accountant’s testi-
mony to show that the withdrawal of funds 
from a bank account containing commingled 
funds satisfied the $10,000 requirement for 
a conviction under Section 1957. 
 
United States v. Tyler, ___ Fed. Appx. ___, 
2015 WL 5674893 (5th Cir. Sept. 28, 2015). 
 
Fifth Circuit * Defendant, a provider of du-
rable medical equipment, submitted false 
claims to Medicare and Medicaid and was 
convicted of health care fraud and money 
laundering. On appeal, he argued that the 
evidence was insufficient to support his 
money laundering conviction under 18 
U.S.C. § 1957. 
 
 Under Section 1957, the Govern-
ment must prove that the defendant con-
ducted a monetary transaction involving 
more than $10,000 in proceeds from a 
specified unlawful activity such as health 
care fraud.  The transaction in question 
was Defendant’s withdrawal of $140,500 
from a commingled bank account, and using 
that money to buy a cashier’s check. 
 
 An accountant testified that “most of 
the withdrawn money” comprised deposits 
from Medicare and Medicaid, and that 86 
percent of Defendant’s Medicare and Medi-
caid billings were fraudulent.  That evi-
dence, the panel concluded, was sufficient 
to allow a jury to find that more than 
$10,000 of the funds involved in the subject 
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monetary transaction were proceeds of the 
health care fraud offense.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Renata Ann Gowie (S.D. 
Tex.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
  
 
Money Laundering / Virtual Currency / 
Money Transmitting Business – Section 
1960 / Extraterritorial Jurisdiction  
 
A money transmitting business based en-
tirely overseas is required to register with 
FinCEN if it has a large number of custom-
ers in the United States, and there is extra-
territorial jurisdiction under Section 1960 to 
prosecute a business that does not comply. 
 
The international money laundering statute, 
18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(2), and the criminal 
proceeds prong of Section 1960(b)(1)(C), 
each contain an element that the other does 
not, and thus pass the Blockberger test. 
 
Section 1960(b)(1)(C) is not unconstitution-
ally vague even though it does not specify 
whether the underlying unlawful activity is 
limited to violations of U.S. law. 
 
Virtual currencies are “funds” for purposes 
of Sections 1956 and 1960. 
 
United States v. Budovsky, 2015 WL 
5602853 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 23, 2015). 
 
S.D.N.Y. * Defendant operated Liberty Re-
serve, a web-based service that moved vir-
tual currency on behalf clients who desired 
anonymity and were frequently engaged in 
criminal conduct.  He moved to dismiss an 
indictment charging him with domestic and 
international concealment money laundering 
in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) 
and (a)(2)(B)(i), respectively, and with oper-
ating an illegal money transmitting business 

in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1960(b)(1)(B) 
and (b)(1)(C). 
 
 First, he argued that even if his con-
duct violated U.S. law, the United States 
could not constitutionally assert extraterrito-
rial jurisdiction over him because his busi-
ness operated entirely in Costa Rica.  But 
the court held that it was sufficient that the 
indictment alleged that Liberty Reserve had 
over 200,000 users in the U.S., that it 
moved money between foreign banks using 
correspondent bank accounts in New York, 
and that the money laundering offenses in-
volved moving funds into and out of the U.S.  
That these criteria might apply to “any oper-
ator of a web-based business anywhere in 
the world,” did not trouble the court, given 
the allegations that Liberty Reserve was op-
erated “with the aim of causing harm to U.S 
citizens and U.S. interests.” 
 
 Second, he argued that Liberty Re-
serve, as a foreign-based money transmit-
ting business, was not required to register 
with FinCEN and thus could not be guilty of 
violating Section 1960(b)(1)(B).  After a de-
tailed journey through the maze of applica-
ble regulations, the court concluded that the 
registration requirement applies to a foreign 
money transmitting business that, like Lib-
erty Reserve, has a “large number” of U.S. 
users.   
 
 Defendant argued that even if he 
was otherwise required to register with Fin-
CEN because of his user base, the registra-
tion requirement only applies to businesses 
that are required to file Currency Transac-
tion Reports.  This did not apply to him, De-
fendant said, because Liberty Reserve con-
ducted no transactions in currency.  But the 
court held that the regulation applies to any 
business that would be required to file a 
CTR if it conducted currency transactions.  
Thus, that Liberty Reserve did not conduct 
such transactions was irrelevant. 
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 Next, Defendant argued that the in-
dictment was multiplicitous to the extent that 
it charged him with violating both Section 
1956(a)(2)(B)(i) and 1960(b)(1)(C) based on 
the same conduct.  But the court held that 
the two offenses were separate under the 
Blockberger test. 
 
 Section 1956(a)(2)(B)(i) requires 
proof that the defendant who conducted the 
international transfer of funds knew that the 
purpose of the transaction was to conceal or 
disguise criminal proceeds.  There is no 
such requirement in Section 1960(b)(1)(C).  
On the other hand, Section 1960(b)(1)(C) 
requires that the defendant operate a 
money transmitting business.  There is no 
such requirement in the international money 
laundering statute. 
 
 Defendant next challenged Section 
1960(b)(1)(C) as unconstitutionally vague.  
Among other things, the statute proscribes 
using a money transmitting business to 
transmit funds that the defendant knows 
were derived from a criminal offense.  De-
fendant complained that the statute does 
not say whether the underlying criminal of-
fense must be a violation of U.S. law or 
whether a violation of foreign law would suf-
fice.  But the court held that any such ambi-
guity in the law did not affect Defendant’s 
rights in a case where the indictment clearly 
alleged that Liberty Reserve moved funds 
derived from U.S. offenses. 
 
 Finally, Defendant objected that 
Sections 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and (a)(2)(B)(i) 
and Section 1960 do not apply to the move-
ment of virtual currencies.  But the court 
disagreed.  Both prongs of Section 1956 as 
well as Section 1960 proscribe conduct in-
volving the movement of “funds.”  For the 
reasons given in earlier cases involving 
Bitcoins and e-Gold, the court held that vir-
tual currencies are “funds” within the mean-
ing of the two statutes. 
 

 So the motion to dismiss the indict-
ment was denied in all respects.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSAs Christian Everdell, Chris-
tine Magdo and Serrin Turner. 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
  
 
Money Laundering / Proceeds / Applica-
tion of Santos 

 

Sixth Circuit declines to apply Santos where 
the penalty for the money laundering of-
fense does not exceed the maximum pen-
alty for the underlying SUA. 
 
United States v. Olive, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 
WL 5559690 (6th Cir. Sept. 22, 2015). 
 
Sixth Circuit * Defendant was convicted of 
mail fraud and money laundering in violation 
of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1341 and 1957.  The mail 
fraud offense involved using insurance 
agents to induce annuitants to purchase 
fraudulent investment contracts, and the 
money laundering offense consisted of us-
ing the fraud proceeds to pay commissions 
to the insurance agents. 
 
 On appeal, Defendant argued that 
because the Section 1957 offense – paying 
the insurance agents – was part of the un-
derlying mail fraud scheme, the two of-
fenses merged under the Supreme Court’s 
decision in Santos.  Applying its post-San-
tos decision in United States v. Kratt, the 
panel agreed that the two offense merged, 
but that nevertheless Defendant could be 
convicted and sentenced for both crimes 
because the penalty for Section 1957 (10 
years) was less than the penalty for the mail 
fraud offense (20 years). 
 
 So the money laundering conviction 
was affirmed.  SDC 
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Contact: AUSA Cecil VanDevender (M.D. 
Tenn.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Structuring / Sentencing 
 
Fifth Circuit affirms 60-month within-the-
guidelines sentence for structuring. 
 
The Section 3553 factors do not make a 
within-the-guidelines sentence unreasona-
ble just because there was no connection 
between the structuring and another crimi-
nal offense. 
 
United States v. Maduka, ___ Fed. Appx. 
___, 2015 WL 6501209 (5th Cir. Oct. 28, 
2015). 
 
Fifth Circuit * Defendant, the owner and 
administrator of a business that provided 
services to Medicare beneficiaries, pled 
guilty to eight counts of structuring and was 
sentenced within the Sentencing Guidelines 
to 60 months in prison.  He appealed the 
sentence. 
 
 First, he argued that Congress did 
not intend for a person to be convicted of 
structuring in the absence of a connection to 
other criminal activity.  But the panel held 
that the statute “plainly and unambiguously” 
makes structuring an offense whether the 
defendant’s motive for evading the reporting 
requirements relates to other criminal activ-
ity or not. 
 
 Second, he argued that the court 
erred in imposing the position-of-trust en-
hancement to his guidelines sentence, but 
again the panel did not agree.  Defendant’s 
position in his business, the court said, pro-
vided him with broad discretion in the man-
agement of his company’s financial affairs, 
and afforded him the opportunity to struc-
ture its currency transactions.  Thus, he 

used a “position of trust” to commit the 
structuring offense.  That the company was 
in no way “victimized” by the structuring was 
irrelevant.   
 
 Finally, Defendant argued that the 
Section 3553 factors militated against a 
guidelines sentence for a crime such as 
structuring that has no victim and merely 
deprives the Government of information.  
But the court held that the district court 
“heard and considered” Defendant’s argu-
ments and did not abuse its discretion in 
concluding that a sentence within the guide-
lines was appropriate given Defendant’s 
role in the offense and the amount of money 
involved. 
 
 So the 60-month sentence was af-
firmed.  SDC 
 
Contact: DOJ Attorney Ellen Meltzer and 
AUSA Renata Ann Gowie (S.D. Tex.) 
 
  
Structuring 
 
Defendant who cashes 537 checks in 
amounts under $10,000 cannot claim he 
lacked the intent to evade the reporting re-
quirement because it was the check 
casher’s idea to keep the checks to 
amounts under the reporting requirement. 
  
United States v. Nadeem, 2015 WL 
5821098 (E.D.N.Y. Oct. 5, 2015). 
 
E.D.N.Y. * Defendants ran a construction 
business that paid its employees less than 
the legally-mandated prevailing wage.  To 
conceal this fact, Defendants paid their em-
ployees in cash, which they obtained by 
writing checks to shell corporations and 
cashing the checks at a check-cashing busi-
ness. 
 
 When the check casher advised De-
fendants that he would have to file a CTR 
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(Currency Transaction Report) on any trans-
action exceeding $10,000, Defendants be-
gan to write their checks in amounts just un-
der $10,000.  Altogether, they cashed 537 
such checks in the course of the scheme. 
 
 Defendants were indicted and con-
victed of structuring, conspiracy to structure 
and a host of other offenses.  They moved 
for a judgment of acquittal on the ground 
that there was no evidence that they in-
tended to evade the CTR requirement.  
Keeping the checks in amounts under 
$10,000, they asserted, was the check 
casher’s idea, not theirs. 
 
 The court was unimpressed and 
held that the evidence was sufficient to al-
low the jury to conclude that Defendants 
wrote the checks in amounts under $10,000 
with the intent to evade the reporting re-
quirement.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSAs Paul Tuchmann and Lan 
Nguyen 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Attorney’s Fees 
 
Ninth Circuit reverses district court’s reduc-
tion of fee award under CAFRA.   
 
District court erred in tying the fee award to 
the CJA rate for criminal defense work, as-
suming counsel could have assigned menial 
work to an associate, and taking into ac-
count counsel’s agreement to work for a 
one-third contingency fee. 

United States v. $28,000.00 in U.S. Cur-

rency, ___ F.3d ___, 2015 WL 5806325 

(9th Cir. Oct. 6, 2015). 

Ninth Circuit * Claimant prevailed in a 
civil forfeiture case and moved for at-
torney’s fees under CAFRA, 28 U.S.C. 
§ 2465(b).  He requested $50,000, 
based on the hourly rate of $500 that 
his attorney, a well-known forfeiture 
expert in Southern California, normally 
billed in civil forfeiture cases, and on 
the number of hours he expended.   

The Government opposed the 
motion on the ground that because 
Claimant’s counsel had signed a con-
tingent-fee agreement limiting his fee 
to one-third of the amount recovered, 
the fee award under CAFRA should be 
limited to that amount as well. 

The court did not accept the gov-
ernment’s argument, but it nevertheless 
reduced the fee award to $14,000 based 
on several factors: that the hourly rate for 
defending a civil forfeiture action should 
be more like the rate for defending a crim-
inal case than the rate for complex civil lit-
igation; that Claimant’s counsel could 
have delegated much of the work to an 
associate; that his counsel spent a lot of 
unnecessary time responding to meritless 
Government arguments; and that counsel 
had agreed to take the one-third contin-
gency fee.  United States v. $28,000.00 
in U.S. Currency, 2013 WL 525648 (S.D. 
Cal. Feb. 11, 2013).  Claimant was dis-
satisfied with the award and appealed. 

 On virtually every point, the appel-
late panel found that the district court had 
erred.  In holding that the rate for defending 
a civil forfeiture case should be closer to the 
$125/hr rate paid to a criminal defense at-
torney under the Criminal Justice Act, the 
panel said, the court made two mistakes: it 
failed to appreciate that criminal defense at-
torneys always gets paid, whereas a civil 
forfeiture attorney only gets paid if he wins; 
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and it failed to accept the affidavits submit-
ted by other forfeiture experts in the com-
munity that their hourly rates for defending a 
civil forfeiture case were on the order of 
$600/hour – which was even more than 
Claimant was requesting. 
 
 Second, the panel said that it was 
wrong to assume that the hourly rate was 
too high because much of the work could 
have been done by an associate.  Claim-
ant’s counsel, the panel noted, was in solo 
practice, as were the attorneys who submit-
ted affidavits supporting his fee request.  If 
other solo practitioners in the community 
are billing at $600/hr or more, the court rea-
soned, Claimant’s counsel should be able to 
do the same. 
 
 Third, the panel held it was error to 
penalize Claimant for his counsel’s diligence 
in responding to arguments that appeared 
on their face to lack merit.  One never 
knows, the court said, when a judge might 
find merit in even the least meritorious argu-
ment offered by an opponent. 
 
 Finally, the court disagreed with the 
Government that the contingent-fee ar-
rangement should play any part in the cal-
culation of the fee. 
 
 So the fee award was vacated and 
the case remanded to the district court to re-
calculate the fee.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Bruce Smith (S.D. Cal.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
  
  
Currency Seizure / Dog Sniff 
 
In a typical “road kill” case, the Government 
establishes forfeitability at trial based on 
quantity of currency, its packaging and con-
cealment, a dog alert, claimants’ lack of le-
gitimate income and inconsistent stories. 

 
United States v. $59,800.00 in U.S. Cur-
rency, 2015 WL 5476538 (D. Neb. Sept. 17, 
2015). 
 
D. Neb. * A police officer stopped Driver for 
a traffic violation as he was passing through 
Nebraska on his way from New York to Cali-
fornia.  Driver denied having any drugs or 
money in his vehicle and consented to a 
search.  A drug dog alerted to the rear of 
vehicle, and upon opening a concealed 
compartment, the police officer found 
$60,000 in $100 bills (two of which were 
counterfeit) wrapped in bundles and placed 
in garbage bags. 
 
 Driver filed a claim to $1200 of the 
seized currency and Claimant, a third party 
who lived in New York and was not present 
when the money was seized, claimed the 
balance.  The court held a bench trial and 
found that the money was subject to forfei-
ture as drug proceeds under 21 U.S.C. § 
881(a)(6). 
 
 Among other things, the court con-
sidered the quantity of currency, the manner 
in which it was bundled and concealed in 
the vehicle, Driver’s itinerary (he was travel-
ing non-stop from New York to California on 
a known drug route), and the alert by a cer-
tified drug dog who had a history of not 
alerting to controlled samples of circulated 
currency.  In addition, the court found that 
Claimant had no legitimate source of in-
come (he lived on Social Security Disability 
payments and from buying and selling items 
at yard sales), had not filed tax returns, and 
had no documentation of his claim that he 
kept tens of thousands of dollars in savings 
in a shoe box.   
 
 Most important, the court compared 
Driver’s story at the time of the seizure – 
that the money belonged to a friend named 
Viz who asked him to hide the money for 
him in California – to the testimony of Driver 
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and Claimant at trial – that Claimant gave 
the money to Driver to open a grocery store.  
The stories, the court said, were completely 
inconsistent and the latter was not credible. 
 
 This circumstantial evidence, the 
court concluded, outweighed the fact that no 
guns, ledgers, packaging materials, drugs 
or masking agents were found in the vehicle 
at the time of the seizure, and thus sup-
ported a finding of forfeiture by a preponder-
ance of the evidence.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Nancy Svoboda 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Pre-Trial Restraining Order / Jones-

Farmer Rule 
 
District court holds that the grand jury’s find-
ing of probable cause for the forfeiture has 
no effect unless the Government is able to 
show that the grand jury conducted a sepa-
rate vote on the forfeiture after finding prob-
able cause for the underlying crime. 
United States v. Fisher, 2015 WL 5824359 
(W.D.N.Y. Oct. 6, 2015). 
 
W.D.N.Y. * Defendant asked for a hearing 
at which she could challenge the grand 
jury’s finding of probable cause to believe 
that her property was subject to forfeiture.  
She made the necessary showing that she 
lacked other funds with which to retain 
counsel, and the court accordingly sched-
uled the probable cause hearing, but the 
Government insisted that once the grand 
jury finds probable cause, the court may not 
allow the defendant to contest that finding 
prior to trial. 
 
 The court accepted the Govern-
ment’s premise that if the grand jury had in-
deed made a probable cause finding, no 
pre-trial hearing was permissible, but it re-
quired the Government to make a transcript 

of the grand jury proceedings available in 
camera so that the court could determine 
what actually occurred. 
 
 Reviewing the transcript – and mak-
ing large parts of it public in its opinion – the 
court found that the although the Govern-
ment did instruct the jury as to both the un-
derlying criminal offense and the forfeiture, 
it did not advise the grand jury “to vote first 
on the underlying substantive offense and 
then to proceed to factual nexus [for the for-
feiture] if they found probable cause for the 
offense.” 
 
 Given the absence of a “specific 
vote” on the factual nexus supporting the 
forfeiture, the court concluded, it would be 
unjust to deny Defendant a post-restraint 
probable cause hearing. 
 
 Finally, in its review of the grand jury 
transcript, the court observed that the Gov-
ernment had conceded to the grand jury 
that there were certain weaknesses in the 
Government’s case.  In the interest of fair-
ness, the court concluded to that it should 
disclose this to defense counsel to use in 
preparing Defendant’s defense.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSAs Rick Kaufman, Mary Kane 
and Maryellen Kresse 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Pre-Indictment Seizure / Substitute As-
sets / Lis Pendens 
 
The provisions in Section 853(e) and (f) per-
taining to pre-indictment restraining orders 
and seizure warrants are not incorporated 
by Section 2461(c), and therefore do not ap-
ply in cases where the forfeiture is based on 
§ 981(a)(1)(C). 
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Federal law bars the Government from filing 
a pre-indictment notice of lis pendens even 
if state law would permit it. 
 
To seize substitute asset, the Government 
must have probable cause to believe that 
the requirements of 21 U.S.C. § 853(p) are 
satisfied. 
 
The requirement in Section 853(f) that a re-
straining order be inadequate to preserve 
the defendant’s property for forfeiture before 
a seizure warrant may issue is not automati-
cally satisfied just because the property is in 
a bank account.  
 
When property is seized in plain view during 
the execution of a search warrant, the Gov-
ernment may retain the property for forfei-
ture only if it obtains a post-seizure restrain-
ing order or seizure warrant. 
 
United States v. Mann, 2015 WL 5970357 
(E.D.N.C. Oct. 13, 2015). 
 
E.D.N.C. * Defendant, the manager of a mil-
itary installation, was under investigation for 
stealing Government equipment and selling 
it for scrap.  Agents obtained a search war-
rant for Defendant’s residence and seized 
$245,000 in cash at that location, and an-
other warrant for Defendant’s bank ac-
counts, from which they seized another 
$45,388. 
 
 There was a lengthy delay before 
Defendant was indicted, during which time 
the Government filed notices of lis pendens 
on 36 real properties that Defendant owned.  
Ultimately, following the failure of plea nego-
tiations and a series of indictments, the 
Government agreed to release the $45,388 
seized from the bank accounts and to re-
move the lis pendens, but it insisted on the 
right to retain the cash seized from the resi-
dence to satisfy any future forfeiture money 
judgment.   
 

 Defendant responded that all of the 
initial seizures as well as the pre-indictment 
filing of the notices of lis pendens were ille-
gal and moved to dismiss the indictment on 
the ground that the unavailability of the 
funds had deprived him of his Sixth Amend-
ment right to counsel.  In the alternative, he 
requested the release of the seized cash. 
 
 First, the court agreed with the De-
fendant that the Government had no right to 
file the notices of lis pendens pre-indict-
ment.  The Government argued that the fil-
ings were proper under North Carolina law, 
but the court held that it is federal law that 
determines the authority of a federal prose-
cutor to file a notice of lis pendens based on 
a federal criminal case, and that federal law 
requires that an action be pending before 
the filing can occur. 
 
 Turning to the seizure of the bank 
accounts, the court found – and the Govern-
ment conceded – that there was no proba-
ble cause to believe that the funds in the ac-
counts were derived from any criminal of-
fense.  The Government nevertheless ar-
gued that under Fourth Circuit law, the 
money was properly seized as substitute 
assets.  The court disagreed for two rea-
sons. 
 
 While Fourth Circuit law does permit 
the pre-trial seizure of substitute assets, the 
court said, the Government must neverthe-
less have probable cause to believe, at the 
time of the seizure, that the requirements of 
21 U.S.C. § 853(p) are satisfied.  Because 
there was no showing in the probable cause 
affidavit that the directly-forfeitable property 
would be unavailable due to an act or omis-
sion of Defendant, the court concluded, 
there was no probable cause for the seizure 
of any money as substitute assets. 
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 Moreover, the court held that even if 
there had been probable cause for the sei-
zure of the money as substitute asset, the 
seizure was not authorized by statute. 
 
 The underlying crimes in this case 
were violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 201 (brib-
ery), 1951 (extortion), and 641 (theft of Gov-
ernment property); hence, the forfeiture was 
based on 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) (a civil 
forfeiture statute) and 28 
U.S.C. § 2461(c) (authorizing criminal forfei-
ture for any offense for which civil forfeiture 
is authorized).  The Government argued 
that because Section 2461(c) incorporates 
all of the procedures in 21 U.S.C. § 853, it 
was entitled to seize property prior to indict-
ment with a seizure warrant issued pursuant 
to Section 853(f).  But the court did not 
agree. 
 
 Yes, the court said, Section 2461(c) 
does incorporate the procedures in Section 
853, but it does so only after the Govern-
ment has obtained an indictment or filed a 
criminal information.  Thus, it does not per-
mit the Government to obtain a pre-indict-
ment restraining order pursuant to Section 
853(e) nor a pre-indictment seizure warrant 
pursuant to Section 853(f). 
 
 The Government insisted that Sec-
tion 2461(c), by its terms, makes the proce-
dures in Section 853 applicable “at all 
stages of a criminal forfeiture proceeding,” 
but the court held that a criminal forfeiture 
proceeding does not begin until the defend-
ant has been charged with a criminal of-
fense. 
 
 In addition, the court held that even 
if Section 2461(c) did authorize the pre-in-
dictment seizure of property pursuant to 
Section 853(f), it nevertheless requires the 
Government to show that a restraining order 
would have been inadequate to preserve 
the property for forfeiture.  The Govern-
ment made no such showing in this case. 

 Next, the court turned to the seizure 
of the $245,000 in cash from Defendant’s 
residence.  That money, the court asserted, 
was initially seized for evidence pursuant to 
a search warrant.  The seizure was lawful 
for that purpose.  But when the Govern-
ment decided that the money had no evi-
dentiary value, and instead maintained pos-
session solely for the purpose of forfeiture, 
the court was required to return to the court 
to obtain new authority to maintain its pos-
session of the property – i.e., either a re-
straining order under Section 853(e) or a 
seizure warrant under Section 853(f).  Be-
cause the Government did neither, its con-
tinued possession of the seized cash was il-
legal.   
 
 Accordingly, the court ordered the 
Government to return the $245,000 to De-
fendant subject to the Government’s right to 
seek a restraining order or seizure warrant 
before it did so, if there are indeed grounds 
to seize or restrain property when the Gov-
ernment is seeking only a forfeiture money 
judgment. 
 
 Finally, the court had to consider 
whether the Government’s illegal actions in 
filing the notices of lis pendens, seizing the 
bank accounts, and retaining the cash 
seized from the residence, deprived De-
fendant of his Sixth Amendment right to 
counsel.  The court held that it did not.   
 
 The Sixth Amendment does not ap-
ply at the pre-indictment stage, and once 
the indictment was returned and the Gov-
ernment released the lis pendens on De-
fendant’s real property, Defendant had over 
$2 million in property with which to retain 
counsel.  Moreover, throughout most of the 
proceedings, Defendant never filed a Rule 
41(g) motion for the release of the seized 
cash and bank accounts.  Accordingly, De-
fendant’s motion to dismiss the indictment 
on Sixth Amendment grounds was denied.  
SDC 
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Contact: AUSAs Susan Menzer, Josh 
Royster and Steve West. 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Administrative Forfeiture / Remission Pe-
tition 
 
Courts says the DEA violated a claimant’s 
due process rights by entering a Declaration 
of Forfeiture before investigating the merits 
of his remission petition. 
 
But the court also holds that the agency’s 
later review of the remission petition, albeit 
after the property was forfeited and sold, 
rectified the violation. 
 
United States v. Brown, 2015 WL 5432093 
(W.D. Va. Sept. 15, 2015). 
 
W.D. Va. * The DEA commenced an admin-
istrative forfeiture proceeding against a 
2003 BMW that Claimant’s son, a convicted 
drug dealer, used to commit his drug of-
fense.  Claimant did not file a claim con-
testing the administrative forfeiture, but did 
file a timely remission petition. 
 
 The DEA acknowledged the petition 
and advised Claimant that it would investi-
gate the merits, but six days later, the 
agency issued a Declaration of Forfeiture 
stating that no claim having been filed, the 
vehicle was forfeited to the United States.  
The vehicle was then sold.    
 
 Finally, eight months after issuing 
the Declaration of Forfeiture, the DEA ad-
vised Claimant that his remission petition 
lacked merit and would be denied. 
In response, Claimant filed a motion asking 
the district court to declare the denial of his 
remission petition void for failure to comply 
with the DEA’s own regulations and for 
thereby violating his right to due process.   

 
 The court agreed with Claimant that 
there was at least a temporary violation of 
due process.  Under 28 C.F.R. §§ 9.1–9.5, 
the DEA is required to investigate the merits 
of a remission petition.  While a district 
court lacks jurisdiction to review the 
agency’s determination on the merits, it 
does have jurisdiction to ensure that the 
agency complies with its regulations. 
 
 Here, in the court’s view, the DEA 
manifestly failed to comply with its regula-
tions by declaring the BMW forfeited only 
six days after advising Claimant that it 
would investigate his remission petition.  
Obviously, the court said, the DEA could not 
have conducted an investigation in six days’ 
time. 
 
 But the court nevertheless held that 
by belatedly reviewing the merits of Claim-
ant’s petition, the DEA rectified its proce-
dural error with no harm to Claimant.  Ac-
cordingly, the court denied Claimant’s mo-
tion.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Drew Smith and DEA Coun-
sel Vicki Rashid 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Currency Seizure / Motion for Summary 
Judgment 
  

Court finds Claimant’s self-serving, unsup-
ported statement that seized currency was 
his life savings sufficient to create a material 
issue of fact despite his criminal conviction, 
lack of legitimate income, a dog alert, and 
the discovery of the currency in proximity to 
drug paraphernalia. 
 
United States v. $7,877.61 U.S. Currency, 
2015 WL 5773539 (W.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 
2015). 
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W.D.N.Y. * Agents searched Claimant’s res-
idence and found $7,877 in currency along 
with a treasure trove of drug paraphernalia, 
including marijuana seeds, a night vision 
scope, scales, and a glass pipe with residue 
that field-tested positive for narcotics.  A 
drug dog alerted to the currency. 
 
 Claimant was convicted in a criminal 
case but nevertheless contested the civil 
forfeiture of the money, claiming that it rep-
resented his life savings.  The Government 
responded that Claimant’s average income 
for the six years preceding the seizure was 
only $4,035 and moved for summary judg-
ment.  The court denied the motion. 
 
 Though the Government’s case 
might be strong, the court said, the convic-
tion, dog alert, lack of legitimate income, 
and the discovery of the currency in proxim-
ity to drug paraphernalia were not sufficient 
to support entry of summary judgment be-
cause Claimant’s sworn statement that the 
money represented his life savings created 
a material issue of fact concerning Claim-
ant’s credibility that would have to be de-
cided by a jury at trial.  That Claimant’s 
statement was self-serving and unsupported 
by any corroborating evidence did not, in 
the court’s view, mean that it was insuffi-
cient to create a material issue of fact.  
SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Mary Kane 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Claim and Answer 
 
The 60-day deadline for filing a claim in 
Rule G(5)(a) does not apply to a person 
who receives direct notice of the forfeiture 
action. 
 
A “bald assertion of ownership” is not suffi-
cient to state a claim under Rule G(5)(a) if 

there is a danger that the claimant has filed 
a claim to property in which he has no inter-
est; but the claimant need not explain how 
he acquired the property if the Govern-
ment’s complaint contains facts sufficient to 
establish his standing. 
 
United States v. $41,352.00 U.S. Currency, 
2015 WL 5638211 (W.D.N.Y. Sept. 24, 
2015). 
 
W.D.N.Y. * Executing a search warrant, po-
lice officers found $41,146 in a safe in the 
bedroom that Claimant shared with his girl-
friend.  In the same room were quantities of 
cocaine, marijuana and other drugs.  
Claimant was convicted on drug charges in 
state court, and the Government filed a civil 
forfeiture action in federal court against the 
currency and a motor vehicle that Claimant 
allegedly purchased with drug proceeds.  
Both claimants received direct notice of the 
forfeiture. 
 
 Claimant filed a claim to the vehicle 
and part of the money and his girlfriend filed 
a claim to the remaining currency, but nei-
ther filed an answer until the Government 
moved to strike their claims for lack of statu-
tory standing under Rule G(8)(c).  At that 
point both claimants refiled their claims and 
filed answers. 
 
 Claimants argued that their new 
claims and answers were timely because 
they were filed within 60 days of the first 
date publication of the notice of forfeiture on 
the Government’s internet website.  But the 
court held that the website deadline does 
not apply to persons like Claimants who re-
ceived direct notice of the forfeiture.  Ac-
cordingly, the court held that the new claims 
and answers were out of time, and the origi-
nal claims should be stricken for lack of stat-
utory standing because Claimants did not 
file timely answers. 
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 Alternatively, the Government 
moved to strike the claims for failure to com-
ply with the pleading requirement in Rule 
G(5)(a) regarding the contents of the claim, 
arguing that Claimants’ bald assertions of 
ownership were insufficient to state a claim. 
 
 The court agreed with the Govern-
ment that a bald assertion of ownership is 
insufficient to comply with Rule G(5)(a) if 
there is a danger that the claimant has filed 
a false claim.  That danger did not exist 
with respect to the motor vehicle, however, 
because the Government’s complaint de-
tailed how Claimant purchased the vehicle 
and titled it in his name.  In that situation, 
the court said, it was unnecessary for 
Claimant to say more in support of his claim 
of ownership. 
 With respect to the currency found in 
the bedroom, however, the complaint said 
nothing indicating that the money belonged 
either to Claimant or his girlfriend.  In that 
case, Claimants’ bald assertions of owner-
ship were not sufficient to comply with Rule 
G(5)(a).   
 
 Accordingly, the court granted the 
Government’s alternative ground for dis-
missing the complaints as to the currency, 
but not as to the vehicle.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Mary Kane 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Claim and Answer / Notice / Holder 
Memo 
 
Pursuant to Rule G(4), the Government may 
serve a forfeiture complaint on the attorney 
representing the same claimant in another 
civil forfeiture matter arising out of the same 
investigation. 
 

A claimant cannot move to dismiss a forfei-
ture complaint without first filing a verified 
claim pursuant to Rule G(5). 
 
The Holder Memo concerning the adoption 
of forfeiture actions does not deprive a dis-
trict court of jurisdiction to adjudicate an oth-
erwise properly filed civil forfeiture complaint 
that arose out of a state seizure. 
 
United States v. $33,890.00, More or Less, 
in U.S. Currency, 2015 WL 5793928 (W.D. 
Tex. Oct. 1, 2015). 
 
W.D. Tex. * Local police and the IRS jointly 
seized $33,890 and some jewelry from 
Claimant’s storage unit pursuant to a war-
rant issued by a state judge.  The U.S. At-
torney filed a civil forfeiture complaint, serv-
ing notice on the attorney who was repre-
senting Claimant in a then-pending civil for-
feiture action arising out of the same investi-
gation. 
 
 Instead of filing a claim pursuant to 
Rule G(5), Claimant moved to dismiss the 
complaint on the ground that the notice 
served on his attorney was inadequate, and 
alternatively, because the Holder Memo, is-
sued in January 2015, barred the Govern-
ment from pursuing civil forfeiture actions 
based on state seizures. 
 
 The Government opposed the mo-
tion on the ground that Claimant lacked stat-
utory standing to file a motion to dismiss be-
cause he had not filed a verified claim.  Al-
ternatively, the Government defended the 
validity of the notice served on the attorney 
as well as its right to pursue the forfeiture 
action notwithstanding the Holder Memo. 
 
 The court agreed with the Govern-
ment that a claimant must first establish 
statutory standing by filing a verified claim 
before he can file a motion to dismiss the 
Government’s forfeiture complaint.  But that 
does not apply to Claimant’s contention that 



 

 
17 

he did not receive adequate notice.  If a 
person does not receive notice of a forfei-
ture action, the court reasoned, he cannot 
be faulted for not filing a claim. 
 
 The court held, however, that the no-
tice served on the attorney representing 
Claimant in a then-pending forfeiture action 
arising out of the same investigation was 
adequate under Rule G(4).  Therefore, 
Claimant should have filed a verified claim, 
and because he did not, he lacked standing 
to move to dismiss the forfeiture complaint 
on the ground that it was barred by the 
Holder Memo.  Moreover, the court held 
that that Holder Memo does not deprive a 
federal court of jurisdiction over a forfeiture 
action otherwise properly filed in the district 
court. 
 
 Accordingly, the court denied Claim-
ant’s motion to dismiss the complaint.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Daniel Castillo 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Motion to Dismiss Forfeiture from Indict-
ment / Estoppel 
 
Constitutional objections to a criminal forfei-
ture allegation may not be raised in a mo-
tion to strike the forfeiture notice from the in-
dictment, but may only be raised post-con-
viction. 
 
The Government is not estopped from seek-
ing forfeiture from a defendant who previ-
ously succeeded in opposing the forfeiture 
of the same item as a third party in the an-
cillary proceeding in another defendant’s 
case. 
 
United States v. Mongol Nation, ___ F. 
Supp. 3d ___, 2015 WL 5672508 (C.D. Cal. 
Sept. 16, 2015). 
 

C.D. Cal. * When various individual mem-
bers of the Mongol Nation, a motorcycle 
gang, were convicted of criminal offenses, 
the Government attempted to forfeit the 
gang’s trademarked insignia, registered with 
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, on 
the ground that the defendants used the in-
signia to identify the gang’s members and 
coordinate its criminal activity.  The court 
issued a preliminary order of forfeiture but 
later vacated that order in the ancillary pro-
ceeding on the ground that the trademarked 
items belong to the gang itself, which was 
not convicted, and not to the individual de-
fendants.   
 
 The Government then obtained a 
RICO indictment against the Mongol Nation 
itself, and sought the forfeiture of the same 
trademarked items.  Defendant moved to 
dismiss the indictment for failure to state an 
offense under RICO and to strike the forfei-
ture notice. 
 
 Among other things, Defendant ar-
gued that the forfeiture of the trademarked 
items would be impermissible under trade-
mark law, and would violate Defendant’s 
rights under the First, Fifth and Eighth 
Amendment.  Moreover, Defendant argued 
that the Government was estopped from 
seeking the forfeiture because it had al-
ready tried and failed to forfeit the same 
items in the earlier case. 
 
 The court rejected Defendant’s first 
two arguments as prematurely raised in a 
motion to strike; such arguments, the court 
said, may be raised only after a defendant 
has been convicted.  And it rejected the es-
toppel argument on the ground that the is-
sue in the earlier case that led to the forfei-
ture order’s being vacated, was different 
from the issue presented here. 
 
 The first forfeiture action failed be-
cause property that belongs to a third party 
may not be forfeited in a criminal case.  
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“Because ‘Mongols Nation’ was not indicted 
… nor named as a RICO defendant under § 
1962(a), its ownership interest in the marks 
was not forfeitable in those proceedings.”  
But now that the gang itself was named as 
the defendant, the ownership issue pre-
sented no bar to the forfeiture. 
 
 Nevertheless, the court granted De-
fendant’s motion to dismiss the indictment 
for failure to state an offense under RICO.  
SDC 
 
 
Plea Agreement / Credit Against Money 
Judgment 
 
If a plea agreement says that the defendant 
agrees to the forfeiture of certain property 
and also agrees to a money judgment, the 
provisions are separate and cumulative, and 
the defendant is entitled to no credit against 
the money judgment for the value of the 
specific assets. 
 
United States v. Weisman, 2015 WL 
5836401 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 7, 2015), aff’g Re-
port and Recommendation, 2015 WL 
5897756 (S.D. Fla. Aug. 4, 2015). 
 
S.D. Fla. * Defendant pled guilty to money 
laundering and agreed to forfeit certain jew-
elry as property involved in the offense.  
Her written plea agreement also provided as 
follows, “Defendant further agrees to entry 
of a money judgment against her in the 
amount involved in the violation . . . .” 
 
 The court entered a forfeiture order 
comprising the forfeiture of the itemized jew-
elry and a money judgment in the amount of 
$450,000.  Defendant objected that she 
was entitled to an offset against the money 
judgment for the value of the jewelry, but 
the Government and the court disagreed. 
 
 The plea agreement was clear, the 
court said, that Defendant was agreeing 

both to the forfeiture of the listed jewelry 
and to the money judgment.  As the Gov-
ernment explained, the money judgment 
was intended to replace additional jewelry 
that remained unrecovered at the time the 
forfeiture order was entered.  Thus, there 
was no basis for Defendant’s contention 
that the money judgment should be reduced 
by the value of the jewelry that was listed in 
the forfeiture order, even if the Government 
managed to sell that jewelry for more than 
its estimated value. 
 
 Accordingly, the court declined to 
modify the forfeiture order to reduce the 
amount of the money judgment.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Evelyn Sheehan 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Ancillary Proceeding / Discovery / Sub-
stitute Assets 
 
The defendant may not use the ancillary 
proceeding to relitigate his opposition to the 
forfeiture order; nor may he complain that 
the property being forfeited as substitute as-
sets is not traceable to his offense. 
 
United States v. Cohen, 2015 WL 5522144 
(N.D. Cal. Sept. 18, 2015). 
 
N.D. Cal. * Defendant as convicted of wire 
fraud, money laundering, and tax evasion 
and ordered to forfeit $31.4 million in the 
form of a money judgment.  The court sub-
sequently granted, over Defendant’s opposi-
tion, the Government’s motion to forfeit 
property valued at $806,000 as substitute 
assets. 
 
 Defendant and Claimant each filed 
claims in the ancillary proceeding, contest-
ing the forfeiture of the substitute assets.  
Defendant complained that the assets 
should not be forfeited because they were 
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not derived from his offense; Claimant as-
serted that the assets belonged to her. 
 
 The court readily dismissed Defend-
ant’s claim on two grounds.  First, the ancil-
lary proceeding exists solely to determine 
the validity of third-party claims; it is not an 
opportunity for the defendant to relitigate the 
forfeitability of the property.  Defendant’s 
sole opportunity to contest the forfeiture of 
the substitute assets was at the time the 
Government moved for the forfeiture order.  
He opposed the Government’s motion at 
that time and lost, so his interest in the 
property has been extinguished. 
 
 Moreover, on the merits, it makes no 
difference that the forfeited property was not 
traceable to Defendant’s offense.  The 
property was forfeited as a substitute asset; 
thus, the only issue is whether its value is 
less than or equal to the amount of the 
money judgment.  Here, the value of the 
substitute assets was far less than the 
amount of the outstanding money judgment. 
 
 With respect to the third party’s 
claim, the court authorized the Government 
to take Claimant’s deposition pursuant to 21 
U.S.C. § 853(m) and scheduled the matter 
for a hearing sometime thereafter.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Stephanie Hinds 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Ancillary Proceeding / Standing 
 
Unsecured creditor lacks standing to con-
test the forfeiture of the debtor’s property 
even if the creditor has obtained a personal 
judgment against him. 
 
United States v. Kokoszka, 2015 WL 
5990205 (D. Nev. Oct. 14, 2015). 
 

D. Nev. * Defendant pled guilty to structur-
ing in violation of 31 U.S.C. § 5324(a)(3) 
and agreed to forfeit $323,118 in property 
involved in the offense.  A bank that had 
obtained a judgment against Defendant in a 
state case prior to the guilty plea filed a 
claim asserting that it was an owner of the 
forfeited property under 21 U.S.C. § 
853(n)(6)(A) or a bona fide purchaser for 
value under Section 853(n)(6)(B). 
 
 The court rejected the Section 
853(n)(6)(A) claim out of hand.  The Gov-
ernment’s interest in the forfeited funds 
vested under the relation back doctrine at 
the time of the structuring offense.  Claim-
ant did not obtain its state court judgment 
until sometime thereafter.  Therefore, even 
if the state court judgment gave Claimant an 
interest in Defendant’s property, it did not 
pre-date the Government’s interest. 
 
 Turning to the alternative claim, the 
court surveyed the case law on the right of 
an unsecured creditor to file a claim as a 
bona fide purchaser for value and decided 
to follow the majority rule rejecting such 
claims.  An unsecured creditor – including 
a creditor who has reduced his debt to a 
judgment – has no specific interest in the 
debtor’s property, the court said.  Moreo-
ver, even under the Fourth Circuit’s peculiar 
Reckmeyer rule, an unsecured creditor can 
only prevail if the Defendant’s entire estate 
has been forfeited, which was not the case 
here. 
 
 Accordingly, the court dismissed the 
bank’s claim for lack of standing.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Dan Hollingsworth 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Motion to Dismiss Complaint / Export of 
Luxury Cars 
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Court grants motion to dismiss complaint in-
volving scheme to export luxury cars for fail-
ing to allege a scheme to defraud. 
 
A scheme to deprive an automobile manu-
facturer of its ability to sell its product under 
favorable market conditions is not a “prop-
erty right” protected by the wire fraud stat-
ute.  

 
United States v. $52,037.96 Seized from . . . 
Sand Int’l, Inc., 2015 WL 5601848 (D. Conn. 
Sept. 23, 2015). 
 
D. Conn. * Claimants employed straw buy-
ers to purchase luxury cars from car dealer-
ships, intending to take possession of the 
cars and export them to China where they 
could be sold for two or three times their 
purchase price in the U.S.  In the instant 
case, Claimants gave two cashier’s checks 
to a straw buyer and instructed him to buy 
two vehicles.  Federal agents interrupted 
the scheme after the first sale, seizing the 
vehicle that was purchased, the cashier’s 
check intended for the purchase of the sec-
ond vehicle, and the bank account on which 
the first cashier’s check was drawn. 
 
 The Government filed a civil forfei-
ture action against the three assets under 
18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C), alleging that the 
property was the proceeds of wire fraud.  It 
alleged that U.S. automobile manufacturers 
prohibit their dealerships from knowingly 
selling cars to persons intending to export 
them because such arrangements harm the 
manufacturers’ ability to sell cars directly to 
distributors in China and other overseas 
markets, and that accordingly the dealer-
ships would not have sold the defendant ve-
hicle to Claimants’ straw buyer if it had 
known the vehicle was destined to be ex-
ported.  In essence, the complaint alleged 
that Claimants were aware of the dealers’ 
policy and used straw buyers who did not 
reveal the intent to export to circumvent it. 
 

 Claimants moved to dismiss the 
complaint on the ground that it failed to al-
lege a scheme to defraud.  The court 
agreed and granted the motion to dismiss 
on the ground that it failed to allege that the 
buyers had a duty to disclose their intent to 
export the vehicles and how their misrepre-
sentation of that intent would result in a loss 
to the victims, but it granted the Govern-
ment leave to file an amended complaint. 
United States v. $52,037.96 Seized from . . . 
Sand Int’l, Inc., 2014 WL 7399377 (D. Conn. 
Dec. 30, 2014). 
 
 The Government did file an 
amended complaint, this time setting forth in 
detail how the export scheme would result 
in the automobile manufacturers’ losing their 
ability to sell luxury cars directly to the Chi-
nese market.  But the court held that a 
“manufacturer’s interest in controlling future 
market conditions is not a property right pro-
tected by the wire fraud statute.”  Accord-
ingly, the court granted Claimant’s motion to 
dismiss the amended complaint.  SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA David Sullivan 
 
  
Motion to Amend Complaint 
 
After granting a motion to dismiss a civil for-
feiture complaint to the extent that it relied 
on an unsupported legal theory, the court al-
lows the Government to amend the com-
plaint to allege a different theory arising out 
of the same operative facts. 
 
United States v. Prevezon Holdings, Ltd., 
2015 WL 6395930 (S.D.N.Y. Oct. 22, 2015). 
 
S.D.N.Y. * The Government filed a civil for-
feiture complaint alleging that certain prop-
erty in New York was the proceeds of the 
theft of funds by a public official in violation 
of foreign law, and was the proceeds of wire 
fraud in violation of U.S. law.  The court 
granted Claimants’ motion to dismiss the 
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complaint on the wire fraud theory on the 
ground that the movement of the stolen 
funds through a correspondent account in 
the U.S. as the funds were being transferred 
between foreign countries did not allege a 
violation of the wire fraud statute.  But it de-
nied the motion as to the foreign law theory.  
United States v. Prevezon Holdings, Ltd., 
2015 WL 4719786 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 7, 2015) 
(September 2015 Money Laundering and 
Forfeiture Digest.) 
 
 Reacting to the partial dismissal, the 
Government moved to amend its complaint 
to add two new theories of forfeiture: that 
the property was the proceeds of a violation 
of 18 U.S.C. § 2314 (international transpor-
tation of stolen property) and the money 
laundering statutes.  Claimants opposed 
the motion on the ground that it came years 
after the filing of the initial complaint and 
would cause prejudice and delay. 
 
 The court overruled Claimants’ ob-
jections and granted the motion.  The mo-
tion to amend, the court said, did not come 
on the eve of trial but marked “the Govern-
ment’s first attempt to amend their plead-
ings after the motion to dismiss was ruled 
on.”  Moreover, the amended complaint al-
leged grounds for forfeiture that “arise from 
the same core of operative facts” as did the 
original complaint, and contained nothing 
that would come as a surprise to Claimants.  
SDC 
 
Contact: AUSA Paul Monteleoni 
  
 
Notes 
 
Criminal Forfeiture – Appeals 
 
United States v. Mills, ___ Fed. Appx. ___, 
2015 WL 6405804 (5th Cir. Oct. 23, 2015). 
 

Fifth Circuit * Instead of appealing from the 
entry of his forfeiture order when he ap-
pealed his conviction, Defendant waited un-
til the court issued a Final Order of Forfei-
ture to do so.  The panel dismissed the ap-
peal, holding that Defendant’s interest in the 
property was extinguished when the Prelimi-
nary Order of Forfeiture became final as to 
him at his sentencing, and that he no longer 
had any interest in the property when, much 
later, the court entered its Final Order. 
 
Contact: AUSA Ernest Gonzalez (E.D. Tex.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 

 
Facilitating Property  
 
United States v. Powers, 2015 WL 5443706 
(E.D. Ky. Sept. 14, 2015). 
 
E.D. Ky. * Defendant pled guilty to a drug 
conspiracy but contested the forfeiture of his 
truck, arguing that he was not using it to 
transport drugs on the night when he was 
arrested.  But Defendant’s co-defendant 
testified at the forfeiture hearing that on at 
least one other occasion, he supplied De-
fendant with distribution quantities of meth-
amphetamine while Defendant was driving 
the truck.  The court held that that was suf-
ficient to find that the truck was subject to 
forfeiture as property used to facilitate the 
conspiracy.   
 
Contact: AUSA William Dotson  
 
 
60-Day Deadline 
 
United States v. $9,820.00 in U.S. Cur-
rency, 2015 WL 5837037 (W.D. Ark. Oct. 5, 
2015). 
 
W.D. Ark. * Claimant complained that a civil 
forfeiture complaint, filed two years after the 



 

 
22 

seizure of his property, was untimely be-
cause it was not filed within the 60-day 
deadline in 18 U.S.C. § 983(a)(1).  But the 
court held that Section 983(a)(1) applies 
only to administrative forfeiture proceedings 
and has no application in a case, like this 
one, where the Government has com-
menced a judicial forfeiture.  In such cases, 
it is the statute of limitations (19 U.S.C. § 
1621) and due process considerations, not 
the 60-day deadline, that apply. 
 
Contact: AUSA Aaron Jennen 
 
 
Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment 
 
United States v. One 2010 Volkswagen 
Jetta, 2015 WL 5666770 (D.N.J. Sept. 25, 
2015). 
 
D.N.J. * Claimant moved to set aside a de-
fault judgment, arguing that his attorney in-
advertently mislaid the notice of the forfei-
ture complaint and therefore did not file a 
timely claim.  But the court held that be-
cause Claimant did not file a timely claim, 
he lacked statutory standing, and thus 
lacked standing to move to set aside the 
judgment. 
 
Contact: AUSA Peter Gaeta  
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Money Laundering / Monetary Transac-
tion / Interstate Commerce 
 
United States v. Deason, ___ Fed. Appx. 
___, 2015 WL 4709584 (5th Cir. Aug. 7, 
2015). 
 
Fifth Circuit * Defendant appealed his Sec-
tion 1957 conviction on the ground that his 
use of funds in a bank account to purchase 
a cashier’s check was not a “monetary 
transaction.”  But the panel held that the 

transaction satisfied the statutory definition 
for two reasons: it involved an exchange of 
“funds” by a financial institution, and it in-
volved the “use of a financial institution.”  
Moreover, the court held that the interstate 
commerce requirement was satisfied be-
cause Defendant’s bank account was in-
sured by the FDIC. 
 
Contact: AUSAs Brian Poe and Gail Hay-
worth (N.D. Tex.) 
 
Comment: [Redacted] 
 
 
Structuring / Sentencing  
 
United States v. Galligan, ___ Fed. Appx. 
___, 2015 WL 5449865 (2nd Cir. Sept. 17, 
2015). 
 
Second Circuit * Defendant pled guilty to 
structuring and was sentenced to 46 months 
incarceration.  She appealed the sentence 
as substantively unreasonable, and com-
plained that the sentencing judge had con-
sidered facts outside the scope of the of-
fense to which she pled guilty.  But the 
panel held that it was proper for the district 
court to consider the illegal source of the 
structured funds as “relevant conduct” and 
affirmed the sentence. 
 
Contact: AUSA Sandra Glover (D. Conn.) 
 
 
Special Interrogatories / Motion to Strike 
Claim  
 
United States v. $24,600.00 U.S. Currency, 
2015 WL 5567517 (W.D.N.Y. Sept. 22, 
2015). 
 
W.D.N.Y. * The Government served Claim-
ant with special interrogatories to which 
Claimant failed to respond on the ground 
that he needed information seized by the 
Government to compose his answers.  But 
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the court held that Claimant’s failure to re-
spond to any of the interrogatories, instead 
of only those that involved the seized docu-
ments, meant that the Government’s motion 
to strike his claim under Rule G(8)(c) was 
due to be granted. 
 
Contact: AUSA Mary Kane 
 
 
Ancillary Proceeding / Motion to Dismiss 
Claim 
 
United States v. Datta, 2015 WL 6159312 
(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 20, 2015). 
 
S.D.N.Y. * Defendant, a perfume whole-
saler, was convicted of fraud and money 
laundering and ordered to forfeit hundreds 
of thousands of bottles of perfume.  Two 
companies filed claims asserting an interest 
in the merchandise, but the Government’s 
efforts to obtain details regarding the claims 
went unanswered for over a year.  Ulti-
mately, the Government moved to dismiss 
the claims for failure to prosecute.  The 
court held that the motion was appropriate 
under Rule 32.2(c)(1)(A), which incorpo-
rates the Rules of Civil Procedure, and 
granted the motion. 
 
Contact: AUSA Kan Nawaday 
 


